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Sidley, Kristine (REPS)

From: Lesley Osborne [Lesley.Osborne@aba.gov.au]
Sent: Monday, 19 April 2004 3:45 PM
To: Committee, Treaties (REPS)
Subject: RE: ABA submission on AUSFTA

Dear Julia

Sorry that the letter from Giles Tanner did not include letterhead/postal address. The
ABA’s addres is

P0 Box Q500
Queen Victoria Building
Sydney ~SW 1230

Regards

Lesley Osborne
Manager
Policy and Research
Australian Broadcasting Authority

Tel: (61 2) 93347837

Email: lesley.osborne@aba.gov.au

Original Message
From: Committee, Treaties (REPS) [mailto : JSCT@aph.gov. auJ
Sent: Monday, 19 April 2004 2:54 PM
To: Lesley Osborne
Subject: RE: ABA submission on AUSFTA

Thankyou for you interest in the committees inquiry into the USA-Australia Free Trade
Agreement. In order for your comments to be considered by the Committee as a
submission there is a requirement for a postal address. This information is usually
published along with your submission unless you request otherwise.

Original Message
From: Lesley Osborne [mailto : Lesley. Osborne@aba.gov. aul
Sent: Friday, 16 April 2004 5:20 PM
To: Committee, Treaties (REPS)
Cc: Giles Tanner
Subject: ABA submission on AUSFTA

Dear Julia

Attached the submission and covering letter. Sincere apologies for the lateness.

Regards

Lesley Osborne kit

Manager
Policy and Research
Australian Broadcasting Authority

Tel: (61 2) 93347837

Email: lesley . osborne@aba . gov. au

<~AUSFTA sub to Joint Standing Committee on Treaties.doc» «JSCOT submission on
USFTA. doc»
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Sidley, Kristine (REPS)

Lesley Osborne [Lesiey.Osborne@aba.gov.au]
Friday, 16 April 2004 5:20 PM
Committee, Treaties (REPS)
Giles Tanner
ABA submission on AUSFTA 19 APR 2004 ~;

BY:

AUSFTA sub to JSCOT submission
Joint Standing C... on USFTA.doc

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
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19 April, 2004

Ms JuliaMorris
Inquiry Secretary
JointStandingCommitteeonTreaties
ParliamentHouse
CanberraACT 2600

ProposedAustralia-United StatesFreeTrade Agreement

In responseto theCommittee’sinvitationof30 March 2004,theAustralianBroadcasting
Authority providesthe attachedsubmissionin relationto theproposedAustralia-United
StatesFreeTradeAgreement.

TheABA wouldbehappyto answeranyqueriesyoumayhaveon theseissuesshouldyou
sorequire.PleasecontactLesleyOsborneon 02 93347837.

GilesTanner
GeneralManager
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Submission to Joint Standing Committee on Treaties

Proposed Australia-United States Free Trade
Agreement
TheAustralianBroadcastingAuthority (theABA) providesthefollowing submission
to theJoint StandingCommitteeon Treaties,in relationto theproposedAustralia-
UnitedStatesFreeTradeAgreement(theAUSFTA).

The ABA’s role and interest
TheABA’ s commentschiefly relateto thetreatmentoftheaudiovisualindustriesin
theproposedAUSFTA, in particularits potentialimpacton thecommunity’saccessto
Australiancontentonbroadcastingandrelatedaudiovisualservices.

This interestarisesfrom thecultural,socialandeconomicobjectivesin the
BroadcastingServicesAct1992 (theAct), which include:

• to promotetherole ofbroadcastingservicesin developingandreflectinga
senseofAustralianidentity,characterandculturaldiversityand

• to promotetheprovisionofhigh qualityandinnovativeprogrammingby
providersofbroadcastingservices.1.

TheABA hasawide interestin ensuringthattheaboveobjectivesforbroadcasting
areachievablenow andin the future,asdigital technologieschangethenatureof
broadcastingandrelatedaudiovisualservices.

ThelegislationgivestheABA responsibilityfor theregulationofAustraliancontent
on free-to-aircommercialtelevisionservices.2TheBroadcastingServices(Australian
Content)Standard1999setsthe level for Australianprogramsoverall anddetermines
subquotarequirementsfor first releaseadult andchildren’sdramaprogramsand
documentaries.TheAustraliancontentstandardwasmostrecentlyreviewedin 2001
to 2002to ensurethesubquotaswereoperatingeffectively.TheABA is also
responsiblefor the implementationoftheAustraliandramaexpenditurerequirement
for subscriptiontelevisionbroadcastingservices.3

In January2003,theABA madea submissionto theDepartmentofForeignAffairs
andTrade(DFAT), onAustralia’snegotiationoftheAUSFTA.4 In its submissionto
DFAT theABA expressedconcernthattheAUSFTAmight leadto significant
deregulationoflocalcontenton television,to theextentthat suchregulationdoesnot
conformto freetradedisciplines.TheABA wasalsoconcernedthattheAUSFTA
might severelylimit thefuturecapacityofbothGovernmentandtheregulatorto take
measuressupportingAustralia’sculturalobjectivesin broadcasting.

1 Sections3(e) and3(f) of theBroadcastingServicesAct1992
2 Ssection122(1)ofthe Act

~Division2A of theAct
‘~ http://www.aba.gov.aulaba/submissions/pdfs/Aust-US_FTA_Subfinal.pdf
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Treatment of audio-visual services in proposed AUSFTA
Local contentregulationstogetherwith othermeasuresaffectingtheaudiovisual
sectoraremainlydealtwith by meansofspecificreservationsunderAnnexI andII to
theAUSFTA. Theoverall impactofthesereservationsis to retaincurrentlocal
contentrules forregulatedservicesusingknowntechnologies,while reducingthe
rangeofmeasuresavailableto adjustregulationordeterminenewrulesshould
changedcircumstancessowarrant.In relationto undefineddigital services,the
AUSFTA doesnot appearto constrainthemenuofoptionsto regulatefor local
contenton interactiveaudiovisualservices.

Transmission quotas for Australian programming and advertising
content on free-to-air commercial television
TheABA considersthereservationdealingwith free-to-aircommercialtelevisionas
particularlyimportantgiventhatthismediumis likely to remainthemostinfluential
sectorofbroadcastingfor sometime. Annex1-14 to theAUSETA retainstheexisting
free-to-airrequirementsfor Australiancontentasfollows.

Transmissionquotasfor local contentimposedon free-to-aircommercialanalogue
anddigital (otherthanmultichannelling)televisionbroadcastingservicesshallnot
exceed55 percent.Subquotasfor particularprogramformats(eg drama,
documentary)maybe appliedwithin the55% quota.

Theadvertisingcontentquotaof80 percenthasalsobeencapped,underthesame
Annex.

Therehasbeensomedebateaboutthepracticaleffectofcoverageby anAnnex1
reservation.Annex1 regulationsaresubjectto ‘ratcheting’5— thatis, anyunilateral
liberalisationordecreasein the 55 percentlevel will beimmediatelyboundunderthe
AUSFTA andcannotbesubsequentlywoundback.In thisregard,theABA notesthat
thenetworksexceedthe55 percenttransmissionquotathatwasintroducedin 1996,6
andtherehasnotbeenpressurefrom industryorotherstakeholdersfor theABA to
adjustthe level. Thetransmissionquotawasnot consideredwhentheAustralian
contentstandardwasreviewedin 2001-2002.

Ofgreatersignificanceis thepotentialimpactoftheAUSFTA on theABA’s capacity
to regulatefor specificcategoriesofAustralianprogrammingby meansofsubquotas
in thestandard.CurrentAustraliancontentregulationhasrequirementsfor relatively
highcostadult andchildren’sdrama,andfor documentaryprograms.

While all programcategoriescontributeto themix ofAustralianprogramsandare
importantto audiences,thesub-quotaprogramsareparticularlyimportant.They p
provideaminimumsafetynet for Australian‘voices’ in genresparticularlyvulnerable
to replacementby lessexpensivegenresor imports(especiallyadultdrama,children’s
programsanddocumentaries),notwithstandingdemonstratedaudienceappeal.

~Article 10.6.1(c)in theCross-BorderTradein ServicesChapter
6 Interim networkcomplianceresultsfor thetransmissionquotain 2003 wereNine(av 64 percent),

Seven(av 57 percent)andTen (57 per cent)
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In contrast,Australiansports,news,currentaffairs, lifestyle andinfotainment
programs,all of which arecoveredby thetransmissionquota,aremuchmorecost
effective.Theseprogramsareusuallylessexpensiveto produce,cannotbe replaced
with overseasmaterialasreadily,andratewell with Australianaudiences.Regardless
ofquotarequirements,commercialtelevisionschedulesarelikely to contain

7considerableamountsofthesetypesofprograms.

TheABA hasbeenadvisedthatsub-quotasarenot caughtwithin the ‘ratcheting’rule
andcanbealteredandpossiblyincreasedprovidedthatoverallthe55 percentcapis
adheredto. TheABA hasalsobeenadvisedthatthewordingofthereservation,‘e.g.
dramaanddocumentary,’meansthewayis opento introducenewsub-quotas,
providedthe55 percentcapis not exceeded.TheABA stronglysupportsthe
flexibility thathasbeenmaintainedin regardto thesubquotasin thewordingofthis
reservation.

In respectofthe80 percenttransmissionquotafor advertisingcontent,theABA
submitsthatthenetworksseldomexceedhalfof the20 per centforeignadvertising
permittedundertheAustraliancontentin advertisingstandard,8whichcameinto
effectin 1992.

Future regulation: digital media
AnnexII oftheAUSFTA setsout specificreservationsfor digitalmulti-channelling,
subscriptiontelevisionbroadcasting,radioandinteractiveaudioand/orvideoservices.
While thecapacityoftheGovernmentto regulatein respectofnewservicesis not
open-ended,theABA stronglysupportsAustralia’sright to takemeasuresto ensure
thatAustralianconsumershaveaccessto Australiancontenton futuredigital services,
includingsubscriptionservices.Thepotential for changein broadcastingand
communicationsservices,makesit impossibleto predictwhetherandin what form
local contentregulationmightbenecessaryfor futureservices.Giventheeconomics
oflocal contentproduction,theglobalnatureof audiovisualservices,andthe
traditionalopennessoftheAustralianmarketto US entertainmentproducts,future
governmentsmusthavethepowerto determinewhetherregulatoryinterventionis
neededin thepublic interest.Theflexibility achievedin thetreatycommitmentsof
AnnexII recognisesthisneed.

Digital free-to-air multi-channels

Thecapacityto ensurelocal contentonpossiblefree-to-airmulti-channels,provided
in Annex II. is importantin light oftheanticipatedcontinuingstrengthofcommercial
televisionin digital-eramedia.TheABA notesthatthereservationlimits regulatory
optionsthatmightbe consideredfortheseservices,constrainingthenumberofmulti-
channelsthatmight beregulated,andrestrictingtheapproachto theexisting
transmissionquotamodelappliedto single channels.

~AustralianBroadcastingAuthority, NegotiationofanAustralia-UnitedStatesFreeTradeAgreement,
January2003,p.14

8Networkcomplianceresultsfor theAdvertisingcontentstandard
http://www.aba.~ov.au/tv/content!advertisin~/comp1iance.htm#compl
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Transmissionquotascappedat 55 % of overall contentcanbeappliedto no morethan
two channelsor20 percentofthetotalnumberof channels(whicheveris greater)
operatedby a serviceprovider.Themainchannelis includedasoneofthetwo or
threeregulatedchannels.Inpracticeit is likely thatonly themainserviceandone
othercouldbesubjectto Australiancontentrequirements,aseachnetwork’s7 MHz
channelpotentiallyprovidesfor five orso multi-channels.Thenumberofmulti-
channelswouldhaveto be fifteen ormore,to allow local contentregulationsto be
imposedon threechannels(or 20 percentofchannels).No local contentrequirement
canbeappliedto morethanthreechannelsofanindividual serviceprovider.

Dependingon thenumberofmulti-channelsandthenatureoftheprogrammingon
thesechannels,theABA acceptsthatthe contentofsomeofthedigital multi-channels
couldbepredominantlyforeign.

Thecapacityto applysub-quotasfor particularprogramformatsoneachofthetwo
(orthree)multi-channels,e.g.drama,children’sanddocumentary,within the55 per
centquota‘in amannerconsistentwith existingstandards’.TheABA understands
that sub-quotasonmultichannelswouldnot haveto be identicalto existingsub-
quotas,althoughtheywouldbeexpectedto be similar in nature.As with the single
channelsituationin Annex1, thewordingleavesthewayopenfor newsubquotasto
be introducedif appropriate.TheABA considerstheflexibility to applydifferentand
possiblynewsubquotasis important.

Subscription television broadcasting

Unlike its rolein determininglocal contentregulationfor commercialtelevision,the
ABA implementstheAustraliandramaexpenditureschemefor subscriptiontelevision
broadcastingsetout in theAct. TheABA hasarole in reviewingtheregulation
havingbeendirectedby theMinisterto investigatelocal contenton subscription
televisionon threeoccasions.TheABA notesthat theAnnexII reservationenables
Parliamentto extendthe 10 percentexpenditurequotato specifiedchannels,suchas
documentaryandarts channels.Theexpenditurerequirementfor dramacanbe raised
from thecurrent10 percentto a capof20 percentafterafindingby the Government
that theexpenditurequotafor theproductionof Australiandramais insufficient to
meetits statedgoal for suchexpenditure.TheGovernmentmustreachsucha
conclusionthroughatransparentprocessthat includesconsultationswith anyaffected
partiesincludingtheUnitedStates(discussedbelow).

TheABA understandsthat theAUSFTA reservationprecludesanyotherform of
regulationfor subscriptiontelevisionbroadcasting.While expenditurerequirements
maybethemostappropriateform ofregulationatthesector’scurrentstageof
development,this couldchangewith theshift to digital transmissionanticipatedto
increasetakeup ofsubscriptiontelevision- increasingratingsandadvertisingrevenue
in thefutureyears.

Commercial radio broadcasting services
Levelsof Australianmusicarecurrentlysetby meansoftheCommerciaRadioCodes
of Practice,andvary dependingon stationformat.AnnexII in AUSFTA capsany
transmissionquotasforlocal content/Australianmusicat25 percent,whichequates

Australian Broadcasting Authority — April 2004 5
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with thehighestformatlevel currentlyspecifiedin theCode.Maintainingtheright to
regulatefor Australianmusic,beyondcodesofpractice,providesflexibility.

Interactive audiovisual services

AnnexII retainsthecapacityfor Australiato regulate‘interactiveaudioand/orvideo
services’— thesebeingunderstoodgenerallyasservicesthataredrivenby consumer
choice,andareservicesprovidedbybusinesseseither incorporatedin Australiaor
aimed/marketeddirectlytowardsAustralians.TheABA notesthat similarto the
reservationfor subscriptiontelevisionbroadcasting,suchregulationwould beinitiated
by afinding ‘by theAustralianGovernmentthat Australianmaterialis notreadily
availableto Australianaudiences’.TheGovernmentcanthentakemeasuresto ensure
‘thatAustraliancontentonnewmediais notunreasonablydeniedto Australian
consumers’.Consultationwith affectedpartiesmustbe conducted,presumably
includingtheUS asin thesubscriptiontelevisionparagraphs.

Ensuring Australian material is available to Australian audiences
Someconcernhasbeenexpressedabouttherequirementin AnnexII for consultation
with theUSwhenintroducingnewmeasuresfor interactiveaudiovisualservices.
However,theABA considersthethresholddecisionasto whetherAustralian
audienceshavereadyaccessto localmaterialon interactiveservicesornot, is the
moreimportantissue.

Conclusionsaboutpossibleregulationoffutureservicesshouldbebasedon sound
informationandhavethebenefitof inputfrom all relevantstakeholders.This will
requirepolicymakersandindustrystakeholdersto be alert to trendsin thedeliveryof
newservicesandto activelymonitortheavailability ofAustraliancontentin the
digital environment.

Consultation with the United States

While theAUSFTAcreatesarequirementto consult,theABA notesthattheUS does
not haveaveto,andthewordingoftherelevantreservationsgive considerable
emphasisto policy findingsof theAustraliangovernmentaboveanyconsultation
requirements.

Historicallythedevelopmentof local contentrulesfor broadcastinghasinvolved wide
public consultation.TheABA understandsthatno specialconsultationobligations
arisingfrom theAUSFTA havebeenstipulated.TheABA andits predecessor,the
AustralianBroadcastingTribunal,hasconsultedwith theUS in pastreviewsoflocal
contentissues.Togetherwith Australianstakeholders,organisationssuchasthe
Motion PictureAssociationofAmerica,andtheUS TradeRepresentative,have
participatedin publicprocesses.TheABA will continueits practiceofopenand
transparentconsultation,with opportunitiesfor all affectedpartiesto put theirviews -

opportunitieswhicharenow enhancedby theuseofemailsandwebpublishing.

I
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Other areas of interest to the ABA
Amongstits otherresponsibilitiestheABA monitorsbroadcasters’compliancewith
theforeignmediaownershipprovisionsin theAct, andalsomanagesthespectrumfor
televisionandradioservices.Both ofthesefunctionsareunaffectedby theAUSFTA.

Foreign Media Ownership
Theinclusionofforeignownershipofcommercialtelevisionand subscription
televisionbroadcastinglicencesasAnnex1 reservations(Annex1-15) ‘grandfathers’
thecurrentrules.

Spectrum management

TheABA’s powersto managethespectrumfor televisionandradioserviceshave
beenretained(Annex 11(g)).This reservationensuresthattheABA’s broader
activitiesin relationto theassignmentandmanagementofspectrumandlicensingof
broadcastingservicesareunaffectedby theAUSFTA.
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